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            ‘Whitaker Wright was one of the great characters of the Victorian age – Methodist minister, businessman, swindler and symbol of excess – whose life inspired some of H. G. Wells’s finest books. Henry Macrory has found a glorious subject and tells Wright’s extraordinary story in vivid, exciting prose that makes his book a tremendous pleasure to read.’

            DOMINIC SANDBROOK, AUTHOR, HISTORIAN AND TV PRESENTER 

            
                

            

            ‘One of my reads of the year. Absolutely superb. Henry Macrory’s impeccably researched and brilliantly told account of Whitaker Wright’s extraordinary life is a page-turner from start to finish.’

            GEORGE OSBORNE, EDITOR, LONDON EVENING STANDARD 

            
                

            

            ‘A fascinating story about an extraordinary man – grippingly told.’

            PENNY JUNOR, BIOGRAPHER OF PRINCE CHARLES, PRINCE WILLIAM AND MARGARET THATCHER 

            
                

            

            ‘The forgotten story of an extraordinary man, a roguish hustler with a genius for self-reinvention who for a time was the richest man in Britain. The book has been diligently researched and the narrative, with its dramatic last twist, is highly entertaining.’

            BLAKE MORRISON, AWARD-WINNING NOVELIST AND AUTHOR OF TWO BESTSELLING MEMOIRS 

            
                

            

            ‘This is compelling and revelatory stuff. Henry Macrory reminds us, with commendable power and restraint, that truth really is stranger than fiction. The story of Whitaker Wright has movie written all over it.’

            JONATHAN MANTLE, BESTSELLING BIOGRAPHER OF JEFFREY ARCHER AND ANDREW LLOYD WEBBER 

            
                

            

            ‘A biography that reads like a thriller – the roaring life of the world’s greatest ever fraudster. This MUST become a movie!’

            GWYN HEADLEY, ARCHITECTURAL HISTORIAN AND AUTHOR OF THE NATIONAL TRUST BOOK OF FOLLIES

            

            
                

            

            ‘Rattling good stuff – best biography I’ve read in a long time. Henry Macrory has the gift of a natural storyteller.’

            TIM SATCHELL, BESTSELLING BIOGRAPHER OF STEVE MCQUEEN AND FRED ASTAIRE 

            
                

            

            ‘Having been intrigued by the life of Whitaker Wright for many years, I’m delighted to be able to recommend Ultimate Folly. Henry Macrory has written a gripping biography which highlights the extreme wealth and ultimate tragedy of a fascinating nineteenth-century swindler.’

            SALEMA NAZZAL, AUTHOR OF THE FOLLY UNDER THE LAKE 

            
                

            

            ‘A tour de force of rip-roaring adventure, treachery and double-dealing. Henry Macrory’s compelling tale of this larger-than-life swindler is an absolute joy to read.’

            MICHAEL TONER, NOVELIST AND PLAYWRIGHT 

            
                

            

            ‘Ultimate Folly is a truly fascinating account of an extraordinary man … Would that my grandfather-in-law, Sir James Reid, had never set eyes on Whitaker Wright!’

            MICHAELA REID, BIOGRAPHER OF QUEEN VICTORIA’S PERSONAL PHYSICIAN, SIR JAMES REID 

            
                

            

            ‘Henry Macrory recounts with consummate panache the gripping story of one of Britain’s most remarkable folly builders.’

            JONATHAN HOLT, EDITOR OF FOLLIES MAGAZINE 

            
                

            

            ‘I’m delighted that the full story of my great-great-uncle’s fascinating life has been told at last. Ultimate Folly brims with adventure and skulduggery and kept me riveted throughout.’

            DEREK WRIGHT 
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            PROLOGUE

         

         If he was in a state of shock after the judge had passed sentence – the maximum permitted by law – Whitaker Wright was careful not to show it. Dignity was the thing. Dignity coupled with the injured air of a man who has been misunderstood and wronged. Facing the bench, he declared in a firm voice: ‘My Lord, all I can say is that I am as innocent of any intention to deceive as anyone in this room.’ But the judge was not in a mood to listen. Hostile to Wright from the start, he was already on his feet and on his way out of the court.

         The convicted man’s solicitor placed a consoling arm on his shoulder and whispered his regret at the outcome of what the newspapers had already dubbed ‘the most dramatic trial of modern times’. Wright, determined to stay calm, shrugged. ‘Never mind, Sir George. I don’t mind a bit.’ Then, as a score or more of reporters rushed to file what they assumed was the final instalment of Wright’s extraordinary story, he was escorted by two bailiffs to a basement room beneath the court. Here he was to be allowed a few minutes in private with his advisers before a horse-drawn Black Maria took him to Brixton Prison.

         His fall from grace could hardly have been more spectacular. Five years earlier, he had reputedly been the richest man in Britain, perhaps in the world. On both sides of the Atlantic he had been portrayed as a god-like figure dextrously pulling the strings in a dazzling puppet show of high finance. He was a friend and adviser to nobility, numbering the Kaiser and the Prince of Wales among his acquaintances. His lifestyle was the stuff of legend. There was a 220ft steam yacht manned by a crew of thirty-three, a six-storey mansion in London’s Park Lane and a 9,000-acre country estate where up to 600 labourers at a time attended to his every whim. They built him an observatory, a palm house, a trio of lakes adorned with marble statuary, and moved a hill that was blocking his view. A total of seventy-seven servants – including valets, footmen, secretaries, maids, cooks, grooms – saw to his personal needs. The press drew comparisons with Versailles and the Winter Palace in Saint Petersburg.

         His proudest creation – his unique and ultimate folly – was an underwater glass smoking room, fully submerged in one of the lakes like something out of a Jules Verne novel. Here, on summer evenings, as the fish peered in from outside, he entertained his high-born friends and regaled them with tales of his adventures in the Wild West. Not even Versailles and the Winter Palace could boast anything like that.

         The magnitude of his achievements was all the more remarkable given his modest background. He had started out without a penny to his name. The course of his career had been as harsh and jagged as a fever chart, but shrewdness, ambition and a seismic energy, almost enough to bend the space around him, kept propelling him to ever greater heights. And then, disaster. Overstretching himself, the too-clever-by-half puppetmaster became entangled in his own strings and the whole show collapsed around him. It was, in the words of The Spectator, one of those ‘sudden reverses which hurl men from the topmost pinnacle of success to the lowest depth of deserved misfortune’.

         Strictly speaking, the court bailiffs who accompanied him into the bowels of the building at the end of the trial should not have left his side until they had handed him over to the police. But Wright said he wanted to be alone with his advisers before the transfer to jail. The bailiffs mulled it over and relented. Even now, crushed and disgraced though he was, Wright’s word held sway. He was nothing if not persuasive. As one newspaper had observed: ‘He is one of those men at whom a passer-by instinctively looks twice. He has a personality which is commonly called “magnetic”.’

         Turning a blind eye to the rules, the bailiffs withdrew from the room to allow him some privacy. In the circumstances, it seemed a reasonable concession. He would be out of their sight for only a few minutes, and he would be in the company of respected and responsible men, including his solicitor. It was a decision they would regret. The Whitaker Wright story was not over yet. Always a man who revelled in doing the unexpected, he had one last, dreadful surprise to spring. 

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER ONE

            SWAPPING GOD FOR MAMMON

         

         As a boy he was plain James Wright. Not until he was an adult did he replace his first name with his middle name and metamorphose into Whitaker Wright. This altogether more imposing moniker, which he liked to shorten to ‘WW’, had a solid, reliable ring to it. It was, he believed, perfectly suited to a man of his vaunted dependability and stature.

         That he was bright and capable was evident from early on, but nothing in his conventional, chapel-going background pointed to the breathtaking heights he would reach. His father, also James, was the son of a brick-maker. Born in 1815, the elder James had been brought up in the Cheshire silk-making town of Macclesfield. At a young age he was sent to work in a factory, an experience he was fortunate to survive unscathed, for the town’s silk mills were among the most notorious in Britain. Crowded, damp, insanitary and deafeningly noisy, they were nurseries of disease and deformity. Children as young as five and six made up a significant proportion of the workforce. By the time they were eight, they were expected to work six fourteen-hour days a week for 1s 6d (7.5p), rising to 2s 6d (12.5p) when they were nine. Their misery was exacerbated by the harsh discipline. In 1833, eleven-year-old Sarah Stubbs died in a Macclesfield mill after she was repeatedly beaten with leather thongs for not tying broken silk threads at the required rate. In the town as a whole, the annual death rate from illness and disease was more than twice the national average.
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               Nothing in Wright’s background pointed to the breathtaking heights he would reach. His father, James, was a Methodist minister. His mother, Matilda, was a domestic servant.

            

         

         At the age of thirteen, the elder James began to find solace from factory life in the Methodist Church. In due course, his faith also gave him a means of escape from his gruelling existence. Every Sunday, the one day in the week when he could break free from the mill’s slavery, he rose before 4 a.m. to attend scripture meetings in his local Methodist chapel and to lend a hand with services. He devoted the rest of the day to bible study and Sunday school. According to church records, he ‘began to contemplate the salvation of his fellow sinners, and earnestly apply himself to a preparation for a life of usefulness’. His mother, Mary, was his guiding light, a pious woman who ‘planted in his mind the precepts of life, watered them with her tears, and nourished them by her example’.

         At the age of twenty-four, he became a full-time Methodist New Connexion preacher in Worcestershire. (The New Connexion was a dissenting Methodist movement formed in 1797 with the aim of giving the laity a greater say in church affairs.) Six years later, in 1845, he moved north and became a minister on the Stafford circuit. The same year he married a 31-year-old domestic servant, Matilda Whitaker, the daughter of a Macclesfield tailor. The couple was allocated a modest house in Foregate Street, Stafford, close to the River Sow, and here, on 9 February 1846, their first child, James Whitaker Wright, was born.

         The proud father can have seen little of his son as he grew up, for the work of a Methodist minister was long and arduous. He was required to preach a minimum of eight sermons a week in different places, often in the open air and in all weathers. When not preaching, he was expected to hold prayer meetings, distribute religious tracts and to make house-to-house calls to steer people away from sin. His many other duties included comforting the sick and afflicted and officiating at baptisms, weddings and funerals. All this for a salary of £100 a year, raised from the collections he made at meetings. To set an example to his flock, he was obliged to behave in a blameless manner at all times. The slightest infringement was liable to punishment. In 1837, one of his fellow Methodist ministers in Staffordshire, James Clay, was suspended ‘for going to see the railway on a Sunday with his wife’.

         Leadership and an ability to communicate were high on the list of attributes the Methodist Church looked for in its clergy. The elder James possessed both, and they were qualities he would pass on in abundance to his eldest son. Little is known about WW’s boyhood, although he would say in later life that he was brought up in ‘the depths of poverty’ and that he reached adulthood with nothing but his native wit to help him on in the world. Always given to exaggeration, he seems to have overstated the privations of his youth. Census records show that a domestic servant, Lydia Hall, worked for the family at the time of his birth and continued to live with them for several years. This suggests at least a degree of comfort, as does the fact that he was spared the horrors of factory life and received a good education.

         The house in which he was born stood in the shadow of Stafford Jail, a grim eighteenth-century building which was regularly the scene of executions in the mid-1840s. It is possible that its forbidding presence made an impression on the infant James, providing him with an early lesson that straying from the path of righteousness generally had a cost, but his memories of Stafford were so slight that in interviews years later he said he believed that he was Cheshire-born like his parents. Certainly, his upbringing was strict. Compulsory church attendance and bible study, reinforced by corporal punishment, were the tools his father employed to keep him on the straight and narrow. Methodist documents reveal that his father was a ‘vigilant’ man who was ‘careful to both practise and enforce discipline’. He was perhaps thinking of his eldest son when he wrote in a religious pamphlet:

         
            Let us imitate the example of the little boy, whose father, having just cause to chastise him, took hold of the child’s tiny hand firmly in his own, and inflicted a slight blow with a cane. The judicious father would not have spared for his crying, but as he raised his hand to inflict a second stroke, the dear little fellow gently pressed his lips to his father’s hand, and kissed it, saying, ‘I have been naughty long enough.’ The evil spirit was gone, and that kiss instantly stayed the uplifted blow.

         

         Two more biblical names were added to the family when a second son, John Joseph – ‘JJ’ as he became known – was born in Great Yarmouth in Norfolk in 1847 (Methodist ministers led an itinerant life and the Wrights were constantly on the move). Later, three other children – Matilda, Robert and Frederick – swelled the brood, all of them being born in different parts of England as their father moved from living to living. By 1851, the Wrights were based in Alnwick, Northumberland, and from there they moved south to Derby in 1853.

         Young James now began to reap the benefits of being a minister’s son. He and JJ were sent to Shireland Hall School in the Birmingham suburb of Smethwick, a boarding establishment funded by charitable donations which catered for the sons of clergymen of all denominations, especially dissenting ministers who might not be able to afford a proper education for their children. The school demanded high standards of its ‘young gentlemen’ and promised that in return they ‘could not fail to become useful members of society’. Under the guidance of the principal, a Baptist minister named Thomas Morgan, the Wright boys thrived. They had inquiring minds and a bent for science, with James in particular displaying an aptitude for chemistry. They were rigorously instructed in Latin and Greek, and in later life James, a gifted linguist, was fond of dropping Latin quotations into his conversations. The school also believed in practical training and supplied the pupils with a printing press to ‘combine the advantages of [a] useful and profitable profession with study’. This apparatus appears to have captured the imagination of at least one of the Wright boys’ contemporaries, a Congregational minister’s son by the name of George Newnes. As Baron Newnes, he was to own several influential journals, including the Strand Magazine, the Westminster Gazette and Country Life. In years to come his publications would devote many column inches to the exploits of one Whitaker Wright, many of them far from flattering.

         But, for now, he was still James Wright. He too was apparently intrigued by the Shireland Hall printing press, for when he left school at the age of fifteen he found work as a printer’s apprentice, or ‘devil’, in the Yorkshire town of Ripon, where the family had recently settled. His career in printing, which involved tasks such as mixing tubs of ink and fetching type, was brief. It was an age when eldest sons were generally expected to take up their father’s professions, and the dutiful James was no exception. As soon as he was old enough, and probably under considerable pressure from his parents, he followed his father into the Methodist Church. At the age of eighteen, he undertook an intensive course of religious training, at the end of which he was required to deliver a sermon to church elders on a topic of their choice, a daunting challenge for a lad so young. He must have demonstrated that he was a gifted speaker, for he carried out the task to their satisfaction and was admitted into the church as a preacher. His talent for making converts from a public platform would serve him well for the rest of his life. Years later, a journalist who heard him address a shareholders’ meeting wrote: ‘He played upon his hearers like a virtuoso upon a delicately toned instrument, alternately smiling, suggesting, arguing and thundering, threatening, never pleading, and what had first been unanimous bodies of shareholders against him became violent pro-Wrights.’

         In 1866, when still only twenty, he became a fully fledged minister. He was based first in North Shields, Northumberland, and is known to have preached regularly at Sand Yard Chapel in Milburn Place. He may have found some of his duties unchallenging, as when he addressed the ‘annual tea meeting’ at Salem Chapel on ‘the growing prosperity of the church’ and was joined on the platform by a Miss Shipsides, who sang ‘a touching and simple melody’ called ‘Little Daisy Darling’. Sometimes there were weightier tasks to be carried out. During his first summer as a minister he officiated at the marriage in South Shields of one J. B. Wright (probably a relative) to Mary Ann Birieson.

         In 1867, he was assigned to the Stockport circuit in Cheshire, but the posting came to an abrupt end the following year when he resigned from the ministry citing ‘ill health’. The New Methodist Connexion Conference in June 1868 accepted ‘with much regret the resignation of the Revd J. W. Wright’ and complimented him on his ‘youthful fervour’. The nature of his ‘illness’ was not recorded, but judging from his subsequent active life he made a quick and full recovery. ‘Ill health’ was almost certainly a euphemism for disinclination. He was a young man of wide interests and it is possible that Charles Darwin’s evolutionary theories, first published nine years earlier, caused him to question the very foundation of his faith. More likely, he could not countenance a life of financial hardship. Whatever the reason, his decision to leave the church must have come as a grave disappointment to his father. As it turned out, an even greater shock awaited the head of the household.

         Swapping God for Mammon, WW joined forces with JJ, who had also worked as a printer’s ‘devil’ after he left school, and in May 1868 they founded a printing and stationery business in the West Yorkshire town of Halifax, where their father had recently been assigned. Trading as ‘Wright Brothers’, they set up shop at 77 Northgate, opposite the Temperance Hall, selling and binding books as well as supplying stationery and fulfilling printing orders. In a respectful nod to their father, the books they stocked were mainly bibles, prayer books, hymn books and collections of church music. In his spare time, WW was an enthusiastic member of the Low Moor Cricket Club near Halifax and played most weekends during the summer months.

         The business did not survive for long. The brothers quickly ran into financial difficulties, and disaster struck a year later when they went bankrupt. They only just avoided going to prison. Filing for bankruptcy was viewed harshly by nineteenth-century society, and around 10,000 bankrupts were jailed every year. (Charles Dickens’s father notoriously spent three months in a debtors’ prison because he owed £40 to a baker, a harrowing experience which inspired his son to write Little Dorrit.) Following a public examination at Halifax Bankruptcy Court, where it emerged that their liabilities outweighed their assets by more than two to one, the brothers were ordered to pay their creditors eight shillings (40p) for every pound of debt, the money to be handed over in three stages over the course of six months. Under the terms of the order, their father was required to act as a guarantor. It was probably his involvement in the arrangement that saved them from jail.

         It was another cruel blow to this proud minister of the gospel. All his career he had warned his flock that debt – ‘the improvident habit of borrowing and not repaying’ – was an evil to be avoided at all costs if they were to find salvation. Seeing his name appear alongside those of his two eldest sons in the official reports of bankruptcy proceedings in the London Gazette would have left him burning with shame, and it may be no coincidence that weeks later he contracted a severe cold which gnawed away at his once-strong constitution and left him too weak to leave his bed. He wrote to a friend of his ‘dark and painful’ suffering and his ‘great distress’ at not being able to attend to his pastoral duties. Unable to shake off his illness, he struggled through an unusually warm winter and died in April 1870 at the age of fifty-four. The ‘mournful event’ earned him a fulsome obituary, very different in tone from his eldest son’s obituaries more than three decades later, in the New Methodist Connexion Magazine:

         
            The Christian character of this estimable brother was of a superior order. High moral worth and sterling integrity distinguished him as a servant of the most high God. He was a good man. He lived as well as preached the Gospel … by his instrumentality many were saved and brought into the Church.

         

         Shortly after their father’s death, the two elder Wright boys turned their backs on England and moved to Canada, then a highly popular destination for British migrants. They may have believed that the New World offered a more exciting and prosperous future than England ever could (their nomadic childhood had made them adaptable to change and probably helped to imbue in them a pioneering spirit) but the real motivation for their departure almost certainly stemmed from their unsuccessful venture in Halifax. Then as now, the stigma of bankruptcy was difficult to shake off, and for either to regain a foothold in business in Britain would have been next to impossible in the foreseeable future. Banks would have refused to advance them credit, and suppliers would have demanded cash on the nail. Probably they felt they had brought disgrace upon the family. Better to put the whole humiliating affair behind them and to start afresh in a new country. As far as it is possible to know, neither ever spoke of their failed partnership again.

         The two brothers arrived in Canada towards the end of 1870 and moved into rented rooms in the Niagara district of Toronto, a predominantly working-class neighbourhood which housed numerous immigrants. A street directory the following year listed JJ as an engineer and his 25-year-old elder brother as a commercial traveller. Close in age and temperament, they got on well. They had inquiring minds, great energy and shared interests. Living as they did near the shores of Lake Ontario, they developed a lifelong passion for boats. JJ acquired an old steam engine from a printing shop, and on a day off work he and his brother manhandled it down to the bay where they attached it to an even older boat. They then motored noisily around the bay in what they claimed was the city’s first steam yacht. There would come a time when both owned steam yachts vastly larger and more luxurious than that early makeshift contraption.

         Back in England, their mother had been left in a financially parlous position by her husband’s death. To make ends meet, she worked for a time in a grocer’s shop in Birmingham. A year or so later she too emigrated to Canada, along with her other three children, and set up home with JJ in Toronto’s Moss Park district. WW, meanwhile, branched out on his own. Little is known about his life during this period other than that he worked for the Victoria Chemical Works, based near the harbour. His job as a commercial traveller probably entailed hawking agricultural products across Ontario and, if his young self was anything like his older self, he would have been a gifted salesman with considerable powers of persuasion and an ability to lay on the charm. His manager, James Smith, probably valued him highly, although his wages are unlikely to have topped $20 a week (the equivalent of £4). There was no indication yet that he was set to become one of the world’s richest men.

         Wright appears to have marked time in Toronto for two or three years. Coincidentally, he was living in the city when one of Britain’s most distinguished diplomats, Lord Dufferin and Ava, arrived from London in 1872 to take up his post of Governor-General of Canada. It is unlikely that their paths crossed, but a quarter of a century on, by which time Wright was one of the most powerful men in the City of London, the two would form an intimate and highly significant business relationship. The partnership would end up wrecking the final years of the peer’s life.

         In 1873 or thereabouts, Wright decided to leave Toronto and try his luck in the United States. Oil was the magnet that drew him to the Land of the Free, and to Pennsylvania in particular. A pretty Philadelphian girl became a reason for him to stay there. Pennsylvania’s oil boom had been triggered a decade and a half earlier by a former railroad conductor, Edwin Drake. In 1859, he began drilling in a remote creek near Titusville, 300 miles north-west of Philadelphia. He knew oil was down there somewhere. The native Delaware Indians had told tales of a black liquid bubbling to the surface. They thought it was the blood of the Evil One oozing out of the earth. Drake knew better. For five months he toiled away beneath blazing skies to no avail. Local farmers dubbed him ‘Crazy Drake’. Then, just as his funds were running dry, his drill bit struck black gold at a depth of 69ft. It was the start of America’s first oil rush. Within months, scores of wells and refineries had shot up across the region. The population of Titusville surged from 250 to 10,000. Railroads expanded into western Pennsylvania to ship petroleum to the rest of the country. Within ten years, the state’s wells were producing a third of the world’s oil.

         To an adventurer like Wright, on the hunt for lucrative challenges, the lure of Pennsylvanian oil would have been irresistible. Arriving in Philadelphia, he acquired an office in Chestnut Street in the heart of the so-called Quaker City’s financial centre and set up shop as a broker. If you were daring, confident and persuasive – and Wright was all three – there was good money to be made. ‘I do not believe in luck,’ he would say in a newspaper interview years later. ‘It is all a matter of good judgement, a clear head and knowing how to take advantage of opportunities.’

         The state’s output of crude had soared from 220,000 barrels a year in 1860 to 4 million in 1869 and 10 million in 1873. One Titusville well was reported to be generating $15,000 profit for every $1 invested. The precise nature of Wright’s commercial activities during this period is lost to time, but probably he was trading in the oil and pipeline certificates which helped to finance the booming industry. With a temperamental love of gambling, he thrilled to the vagaries of the market, embarking on a series of profitable deals, not just in oil, but also in grain, wool and cotton, which enabled him to acquire a house in the city’s fashionable Oxford Street, a mile or so west of the Delaware River.

         Even in those early entrepreneurial days he had a habit of sailing close to the wind. In 1877, he and four other men were accused of making false claims in the prospectus of a business they had set up, the Philadelphia Woollen Manufacturing Company, and a grand jury charged them with conspiracy to defraud stockholders. Wright’s role in the affair was minor, and the case against him seems not to have been pursued, but his brush with the law must have brought back uncomfortable memories of his bankruptcy in Halifax. He does not appear to have learned from the episode. It was precisely this kind of cavalier attitude towards the information he gave investors that would lead to his sensational downfall a little over two decades later.

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER TWO

            ROUGHING IT

         

         Wright evidently sent back glowing reports about Philadelphia to his family, for in due course he was joined there by his mother, his sister and JJ. The latter pitched up in the city in 1876 to attend the Centennial International Exhibition, a six-month extravaganza held in Philadelphia’s Fairmount Park to celebrate the 100th anniversary of America’s independence. He was among the ten million visitors who flocked to the 450-acre site on the banks of the Schuylkill River, and it can be taken as read that his inquisitive elder brother paid the fifty-cent entrance fee and went along too.

         The USA’s first official World’s Fair was everything that two bright and ambitious young men could have hoped for. It showcased all the latest New World innovations, including Alexander Graham Bell’s telephone, which produced the incredulous response from Dom Pedro II of Brazil: ‘My God, it talks.’ Other marvels on show were a Pullman Palace railroad car, an elevated monorail and a mechanical calculator. For fifty cents visitors could have a personal letter written on a new machine called a ‘type-writer’. Also making early public appearances were Heinz ketchup, sugar popcorn, soda water and bananas. In the evenings, newfangled electric lamps shone out from a lakeside statue of the right arm and torch of what would become the Statue of Liberty. Fireworks displays staged by an English firm, Brock’s, lit up the Pennsylvanian sky.
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               Anna Weightman, described as ‘a petite handsome brunette’, was just sixteen when she married Wright in Philadelphia.

            

         

         JJ’s chief reason for attending the fair was to see the array of modern electrical gadgets on show. While in Toronto, he had become interested in the science of electricity, and so he made a beeline for Booth 188, where one Thomas Edison was creating a stir with various ingenious devices. These included an electric pen and a telegraph which could transmit four messages simultaneously over a single wire. JJ stayed on in the city for several years, enrolling for lectures on electricity at Philadelphia’s Central High School and finding work with a local electrical engineering firm. Before returning to Canada in 1881, he helped to install Philadelphia’s first electric-arc street lamps and pioneered the concept of placing electrical wires underground. Back home he developed Canada’s first electric motor, which was used to grind coffee in a Toronto store, and opened the city’s first commercial power station. Later he installed electric light in the East Wing of the White House and led the development of Canada’s first electric street railways. Like his elder brother, he was a driven man for whom a desire to compensate for that early failure in Halifax may have been a significant motivating force.

         Not that everyone approved of his innovative work. Denouncing him in a church sermon in the 1880s, a Canadian minister described his electric motor as ‘an instrument of evil since it releases girls from honest toil to wander about the streets and fall prey to the wiles of Satan’. In years to come, WW would also be excoriated by men of the cloth, but for very different reasons. It was perhaps just as well that their God-fearing father died when he did. To have seen both his elder sons condemned from church pulpits would have been an excruciating torture.

         WW himself, while no doubt fascinated by Edison’s inventions, was probably more interested in the ‘products of the soil and mine’ showcased in Fairmount Park’s vast main hall. Among the exhibits was one of the original wooden derricks used by ‘Crazy Drake’ at Titusville, but it would have been the displays of rock and minerals – gold, silver, coal, marble, quartz – that held him in thrall. He probably foresaw – correctly – that the Pennsylvania oil boom would not last for ever (the initial rush had already subsided) and it may have been the Centennial Exhibition that sparked in him what would become an all-consuming interest in mining.

         Somewhere along the line – exactly where and when is unknown – he became skilled at assessing the quality and content of ores and metals. A few months after his arrival in Toronto in 1870, the city’s first College of Technology had opened up not far from his lodgings. Its wide-ranging curriculum included a course of evening classes in mining geology and assaying. Both were areas in which he became an expert. No records exist to show if Wright enrolled on one of these courses, but two decades on, when he was wheeling and dealing on the financial markets in London, the letters MA began to appear after his name in company prospectuses. This was a curious adornment for someone whose formal education had ended when he left school at fifteen, but given his penchant for swagger and exaggeration he may have decided that his attendance at evening classes in Toronto justified this hard-to-disprove embellishment. There are, of course, other possibilities. Many years later, members of his family were under the impression that he had studied geology or a related subject at Heidelberg University. (In a letter to a cousin in the 1970s, one of Wright’s granddaughters said she had been told this by her mother.) Like the MA after his name, the Heidelberg course seems to have been a flight of fancy, of which there were many over the course of Wright’s life. Neither Heidelberg University in Germany nor its namesake college in Ohio has any record of a student named J. W. Wright. Whatever the truth about his academic qualifications, he determined in around 1878 that his future lay in the mining industry. A quarter of a century later, he told an American newspaper reporter:

         
            My father died, leaving nothing except an annuity of £100 for my mother. I was cast entirely on my own resources, without a penny in capital. But he had given me a good education, and as I had been much interested in inorganic chemistry and assaying I came to this country to try my fortunes as an assayer.

         

         It was a time of high hopes in the land of opportunity. ‘Go west, young man,’ the New-York Tribune editor, Horace Greeley, had famously advised a few years earlier. The Civil War was not long over, and men were pouring across the Mississippi to try their hand at ranching, farming and mining. Scenting low-hanging fruit, Wright joined them, armed with blankets, tobacco, water canteens and not much else as he followed the winding trail to the Rockies. The iron horse had yet to reach many of the frontier towns, and travelling across the dusty, unmarked terrain by wagon and stagecoach was gruelling and uncomfortable. No photographs exist of Wright in early life (and precious few in later life), but his son, whom he closely resembled, was portrayed in a 1904 sketch at the age of twenty as a well-built, square-chinned young man with dark good looks. This probably accurately describes Wright himself in his Wild West days. At nearly 6ft tall, with tar-black hair, a winning smile and an English accent, he had the commanding presence and know-how to strike a good deal. His strongest and most marked characteristic was an unshakeable belief in himself. Given his intelligence and resourcefulness, he would have cut a powerful and impressive figure as he crossed the continent, eager for adventure and intent on becoming rich. In the words of a New York journal, the Albany Review, he was ‘a big, burly, masterful man; everything in his personality breathed pluck, energy, ambition’.

         Wright did not confine his work to carrying out assays for others. He would recall in later life that to scrape a living he worked as ‘a mule driver, a baggage man to a western outfit, and a mining labourer … There were tough times before I made good.’ Demonstrating an inner resolve that was never to desert him, he started prospecting for gold and silver himself, particularly in the mountainous regions of Idaho and Montana, divining the metal content of a rock by sight, heft, intuition and crude chemistry. Laden with picks, drills, gads, crowbars, shovels, cans of blasting powder and coils of fuse, he hacked at the earth in the search for silver and panned for gold in the riverbeds, marking his claims with piles of rocks, or by pounding wooden stakes into the ground and posting a written notice. If he found nothing, he ‘pulled up stakes’ and moved on to mark a new claim. Samuel Clemens – better known by his pen name of Mark Twain – had prospected in the Wild West a few years earlier. He described the thrill of hunting for silver in the Rockies in his book Roughing It:

         
            Presently I found a bright fragment and my heart bounded! I hid behind a boulder and polished it and scrutinised it with a nervous eagerness and a delight that was more pronounced than absolute certainty itself could have afforded … of all the experiences of my life, this secret search among the hidden treasures of silver-land was the nearest to unmarred ecstasy. It was a delirious revel.

         

         Life for the prospectors was hard. Their leather boots fell apart and their clothes were torn to shreds as they trekked through the sagebrush and clambered among the rocks. The primitive shacks they built for themselves out of scraps of wood and canvas, with a corner left open to serve as a chimney, were infested with lice and rodents. Life was dangerous, too. Cool nerves were needed, and Wright seldom went anywhere without a gun, holstering it by day and keeping it close to his side by night. Rattlers, bears and bandits were the least of his worries, however. The greatest threat was from Native American Indians, who tended to resent any intrusion within 100 miles of their reservations. As the San Francisco Call newspaper noted: ‘They have a way of disposing of the hardy prospector which does not make farther investigation in that particularly locality very attractive to others.’ In years to come, Wright liked to tell the story (perhaps embellished) of how his life was once saved by a young Native American Indian bride who was camping near his shanty on the banks of Snake River in Idaho. Noticing that the woman and her husband were watching him smoking, Wright gave them a plug of tobacco, which they gratefully accepted. Shortly afterwards, a party of braves rode up intent on exterminating every white man in the area. Their leader made for Wright’s hut, but the young woman ran after him, caught the bridle of his horse and spoke to him for several minutes. To Wright’s surprise and great relief, the war party left him in peace and rode on. They proceeded down the river and, according to Wright, massacred three men who had been working with him. Though he never found out what the woman had said, he was in no doubt that her intervention had saved his life.

         Despite the discomforts of prospecting – the long days working under a hot sun, the drenching rain that came out of nowhere, the smudge fires to keep off the midges, the hours spent standing in cold mountain waters – Wright thrived and prospered. In due course he began trading on a small scale, buying up the mining claims of fellow prospectors and re-selling them at a profit. In his quest for riches, he appeared to be a man possessed, as if trying like his brother to make amends for the shame and unhappiness that the hot breath of bankruptcy had brought on his father, not to mention the distress he had caused his parents by resigning from the church. Perhaps, too, he wanted to prove to the rest of his family that he was not the failure that the disaster back in Halifax had seemed to suggest. Many years later, he told a newspaper reporter:

         
            There was never any difficulty about my making money. I had to struggle at first, of course, as does any young man without capital, but after I made my first 10,000 dollars the rest was easy. In fact, it is my experience that any man with a fair insight into human nature, a clear head, and absolute integrity ought to make a comfortable competence at least, if he can once accumulate 10,000 dollars. How did I get that start? Why, I went west, and as I made a little money I saved it, and bought a few shares in a mine that looked as if it would be profitable. It was only a few dollars at first, but all the time I was adding to my investment. I bought a mining claim for 500 dollars, and sold half my interest in it for enough to pay me back my original investment and provide working capital. The mine proved profitable, and a little later I sold out my remaining half interest for a good profit. Then I did the same thing with other properties, and kept on doing it until I was dealing in amounts that made the profit worthwhile.

         

         To use his own words, Wright was on his way to ‘making a pile’ by the time he was in his early thirties. Ever the optimist, he was confident that he had the business acumen to build on this promising start and make a substantial fortune. He had also struck gold on the domestic front. In between his travels he had fallen in love with Anna Edith Weightman, a Philadelphian girl barely half his age. Where and how they met is not recorded, but an encounter at one of the top-drawer social events which Wright increasingly liked to attend can almost certainly be ruled out. Anna had only recently turned sixteen when she met Wright. She was from a relatively poor family (most of the Weightman men had led a hand-to-mouth existence for many generations as blacksmiths and ironworkers) and the likeliest scenario is that she worked for him as a domestic servant, either in his Oxford Street home or at his Chestnut Street office.

         Anna’s brief life had been troubled. Her father, Isaac Weightman, had fought for the Union during the Civil War, initially with the Illinois 4th Cavalry (Anna was born in Illinois) and later as a corporal in the Pennsylvania 29th Volunteers. He survived the Battle of Gettysburg in 1863 but was killed the following year at the Battle of Pine Knob in Georgia, aged twenty-nine. He was buried in only his trousers near some railroad tracks close to the battlefield, his grave marked by a piece of cracker box inscribed with a lead pencil. Anna was just three years old at the time of his death.

         Anna’s mother, Sarah, remarried in Philadelphia in 1866, but the union was not happy and ended in divorce. Anna and her brother and sister all left home at a young age, probably driven away by the stepfather they detested. When the wealthy, well-connected and good-looking Wright began romancing her, she must have felt that she had landed on her feet. Wright, too, was evidently bowled over. Judging from an early photograph of Anna, she was a highly attractive young woman. Contemporaries described her as a ‘petite, handsome brunette’ with a lively intelligence and great charm. Wright’s nephew, Walter, who met her in later life, thought she was ‘beautiful’.

         The couple were married by a Methodist pastor, the Revd R. J. Carson, at the Union Methodist Episcopal Church in Philadelphia in May 1878. Anna was still five weeks shy of her seventeenth birthday at the time. Wright, who was thirty-two, may not have been entirely straight with his bride about how old he was. Certainly, he was less than truthful with the marriage registrar, giving his age as thirty when signing the certificate. In 1880, when the census takers called, he again knocked two years off his age. For her part, Anna was clearly in awe of her high-flying and frequently absent husband, although she must have often wondered what she had let herself in for. From the start their marriage was a roller-coaster ride, with extreme highs and extreme lows, but her devotion and loyalty to Wright remained constant. His adoration and respect for her – despite a roving eye which threatened their partnership in later years – was equally steadfast.

         Ever with an eye to self-advancement, Wright took the opportunity at the time of his marriage to acquire American citizenship (or so he made out – doubts were raised later as to whether he actually filled in his naturalisation papers). His new status entrenched him firmly in Philadelphian society and no doubt lubricated the passage of some of his business deals. The couple set up home in Wright’s Oxford Street house, and within a week or two of their wedding Anna was expecting their first child.

         Parenthood came at a heavy cost, and three tough and traumatic years lay ahead. On 6 February the following year, three days before Wright’s thirty-third birthday, Anna gave birth to a son, Ernest. In material terms, the little boy had a good start in life. His well-off father took his parental duties seriously and was unfailingly generous with his money. Wright’s neighbours recalled later that he always ‘bought the best goods in the market for household consumption and paid promptly’. For a dollar a day each he employed two live-in Irish servants, Mary O’Connell and Maggie Summerville, to do the laundry and other domestic chores. But even in the city’s well-to-do households, and especially among the vulnerable new-born, one in six of whom did not survive to their first birthday, death had a habit of striking suddenly, and Ernest succumbed to a viral infection at the age of five weeks.

         Putting this blow behind them, the Wrights tried for another child, and in April 1880 Anna gave birth to a daughter, Mabel. The little girl thrived, and the couple’s happiness seemed to be complete when a son, Jay, was born in March 1882. Wright’s financial situation continued to improve, and that year the family moved from their well-appointed but comparatively small Oxford Street home to a substantial brick and stone house on the corner of Locust Street and 36th Street on the east side of the Delaware River. The property, which cost $12,000, had four storeys and a basement, along with a sizeable garden in which the children could play. It was purchased in Anna’s name, presumably to protect the couple from any costly business claims against Wright in person. It was acquired with the help of a $10,000 mortgage, suggesting that Wright’s income at this time was more substantial than his cash reserves.

         But the reaper was not finished with the young family. Philadelphia in the 1880s boasted that it was the ‘workshop of the world’, but a cost of rapid industrialisation was dangerously polluted air and water. The couple’s happiness was shattered at the end of that year when both children died within six days of each other in the run-up to Christmas. Mabel’s cause of death was registered on her death certificate as acute enteritis, Jay’s as dysentery. The Schuylkill River, from which all the city’s water supplies originated at the time, was also the recipient of much of its sewage, and both were probably victims of the same contaminated food or water. Even by the harsh standards of the 1880s, when more than one in three children in Philadelphia died before the age of ten, the deaths of all three of the couple’s offspring in fewer than three years was an unusually cruel tragedy. ‘Mr Wright is a man of tender home affections and the blow that has fallen upon his fold will no doubt have a crushing effect upon his nature,’ noted the Las Vegas Daily Optic.

         Wright’s mother, Matilda, who had been living with JJ half a mile away in Samson Street, also died during this period as the result of a stroke. She and her three grandchildren were buried in the same plot at Mount Moriah Cemetery in south-west Philadelphia, a popular rural burial ground for the city’s Victorian elite. The black granite tomb Wright erected there in their memory was vast and ostentatious, and stands to this day. Even in tragedy he liked to leave his mark on the landscape. 

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER THREE

            TENDERFOOT

         

         Towards the end of the 1870s, Wright decided that the time had come to parade his financial tail-feathers on the stock exchanges of Philadelphia and New York. With this in mind, he hatched plans to buy mining properties he could promote as money-spinning assets and float them on the market, hopefully making vast profits for himself in the process. In his dealings in oil he had impressed members of Philadelphia’s affluent Quaker community with his business acumen, his hair-trigger alertness and his genius for organisation. His special gift was as a salesman. Those with whom he did business found him affable, suave and generous, and enjoyed his keen sense of humour. His conversational prowess gave him an aura of brilliance, all the more so when, as he sometimes did, he slipped into French or German. He was a welcome contrast from the usual wooden-faced financiers. With the witchery of the powerful preacher he had once been, he drew venture capital from these eastern capitalists – the prosperity of the late 1870s had left them with money to burn – and headed west again. ‘The people want to be skinned, and I am going to skin them,’ he reportedly told a Philadelphia friend at around this time.

         
            
[image: ]
               Edward Drinker Cope was Wright’s business associate in Colorado and New Mexico. The brilliant palaeontologist would bitterly regret their partnership.

            

         

         His first target was the silver-mining town of Leadville, Colorado, 1,700 miles west of Philadelphia in the heart of the Rocky Mountains. Here, 10,000ft above sea level on the crest of the continent, a bonanza had been sparked in 1877 when miners realised that the black sand they had been tossing aside while looking for gold on the upper reaches of the South Platte River was actually silver. Men flocked to the area in their thousands and hacked away at the rocky soil in the hope of striking lucky. Within two years, they had driven some 5,000 shafts at random into the surrounding hills, of which around 100 were yielding enormous riches. Often, they worked alone for weeks on end, their only possessions being a blanket, tools and basic provisions. Come the winter they poured into town looking for eastern capitalists – ‘tenderfoots’ as they called them – to buy their claims. 

         Wright arrived in Leadville in bitterly cold weather at around the end of 1879, as determined and as resourceful a ‘tenderfoot’ as any who had ever set foot in the city. (‘City’ was rather a grand word for what was essentially an enormous ramshackle camp tucked away among the snow-capped peaks.) The mines there were producing ore worth $1.5 million every month, and he wanted his share of the booty. It was a long haul getting there. The railroad journey from Philadelphia to Denver, via Indianapolis and Kansas City, would have taken him several days. From Denver he would have had to endure a bone-jarring stagecoach ride to Leadville along primitive roads littered with abandoned wagons and dead horses. Knowing the importance of making a good impression, he came expensively dressed and carried his possessions in a black metallic trunk with his initials – J. W. W. – emblazoned in gold on the side.

         Even before he reached the city he would have seen the head-frames that pierced the sky above the hillside mines and heard the dull crack of explosions as miners blasted at the rock with sticks of dynamite. He would have passed the wagon teams that endlessly hauled rich ore down the dusty roads to Leadville’s booming smelters, and all the while he would have cast a predatory eye over the tens of thousands of acres of mountainous land that had yet to be exploited. Leadville, where ‘the rasp of the saw and the tattoo of the hammer were heard from daylight to dusk seven days in the week’, and where the only talk in the saloons and around the camp fires was about the acquisition of sudden wealth, was Wright’s kind of place. ‘The most lively town in the world, if rather ungodly,’ wrote a Welsh visitor, the Revd William Davies Evans. A correspondent for the Illustrated London News observed that ‘life here tends to prodigality among all classes’. Oscar Wilde, who visited Leadville in the early 1880s, declared: 

         
            I’m a little bit scared … and have noted with alarm that the average bicep size here is thicker than my waist … They afterwards took me to a saloon where I saw the only rational method of art criticism I have ever come across. Over the piano was printed a notice: ‘Please do not shoot the pianist: he is doing his best.’

         

         Armed with $300,000 of his own and his clients’ money, Wright began scouting around for suitable mining properties. He needed to have his wits about him. Conmen abounded, and swindles were frequent, as when ‘Chicken Bill’ Lovell duped Horace Tabor into paying a large sum for his barren pit by dumping a wheelbarrow-load of silver-rich ore into it – ‘salting the claim’ as the practice (not yet illegal) was called. Tabor had the last laugh when his men dug deeper and discovered a rich seam of ore. On another notorious occasion, the managers of the Little Pittsburg mine surreptitiously sold off their shares after the ore ran out. Scores of investors subsequently discovered that their stock was not worth a ‘hoorah in hell’. As the Detroit Free Press observed in 1881: ‘A mine is a hole in the ground. The discoverer of it is a natural liar.’ The Salt Lake Tribune was equally scathing about the industry’s get-rich-quick shysters: ‘Colorado today presents an example of a mining territory nearly ruined by the villainous frauds of a class of men in whom there is neither honour nor integrity.’

         Like Oscar Wilde, Wright was an outgoing man with a quick wit and a ready charm. According to one acquaintance, he was a ‘capital raconteur’. He made friends freely and found himself at ease in Leadville’s saloons and gambling dens. He enjoyed the rough-and-tumble life of the Wild West and claimed in years to come that he had witnessed ‘fierce revolver fights in the dancing halls’. The town’s hotels offered basic comforts (though they were ‘more popular with bedbugs and body lice than they were with travellers’, according to a visiting judge), but in his quest to obtain inside information Wright was quite prepared to bunk at the mines, dispensing drinks, swapping stories and playing cards with the men who did the blasting, mucking and tramming. For much of that first winter he lived high up in the mountains in a shanty built of tongue-and-grooved boards, backed up with logs and lined on the inside with cotton sheeting. Most nights the thermometer dropped so low that he slept fully clothed. If we are to believe his description of wintry nights on Leadville’s slopes, which he gave to a newspaper reporter years later, the pitcher of water by his bed was usually iced up by morning, and on more than one occasion a tin of water on his stove froze solid even though the fire was still smouldering. He was happy to put up with the discomfort, however, for all through that winter he picked up useful information and made valuable contacts. A London friend, Roland Belfort, wrote of him many years later:

         
            He saw nascent mining magnates, apparently models of conservatism and integrity, scrambling to buy at bargain prices worthless holes in the ground. He observed that no claim could be so unpromising, no assay so preposterous, no prospectus so fraudulent, that it would not attract subscriptions from the pockets of people bitten by speculation. He observed the eagerness with which people infected with the rabies of gambling would buy anything and everything. The higher the prices of shares, and the more hopeless the enterprise, the more brilliant the success of the flotation. How could he escape becoming cynical in such an atmosphere?

         

         Teaming up with a seasoned mining engineer, William Shedd, Wright took a wagon to Leadville’s eastern outskirts and alighted at Fryer Hill, hailed by some prospectors as the richest silver depository in the world. A careful examination of the rocky slopes convinced him that the area had plenty of untapped potential, and during December and January he paid $195,000 for three claims – the Denver City, the Shamus O’Brien and the Quadrilateral – and incorporated them into the Denver City Consolidated Silver Mining Company. The game was on.

         During this period, Wright became acquainted with a flamboyant San Franciscan mining promoter, George D. Roberts, who combined guile and energy with a readiness to engage in sharp practice, skilfully loading the dice so that he always won the game. He was, according to one description, ‘an unpretentious little man with a big round head, a quick eye and a pleasant smile that belied the hard edge of his soul’. Wright’s meeting with Roberts in the mountains of Colorado was probably the most significant of his career and helped to set the pattern for his own business operations over the next two decades. From Roberts he learned much about the psychology of the investing public, of the manipulation of mining shares, and of the value of different mining properties.
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